1980

Sam L. Kiniry v. Larry Sorenson and American Heritage Builders, Inc : Appellant's Brief on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an action by Plaintiff Respondent to recover on a note after having recovered the underlying obligation on the note and also to hold corporate officer personally liable for the corporate note.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried before the Third Judicial District Court in and for the County of Salt Lake, Judge Dean E. Connor, and judgment was granted to Plaintiff Respondent.

EXACT RELIEF SOUGHT

Defendant Appellant respectfully requests the Supreme Court of the State of Utah to reverse the judgment of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

Plaintiff Respondent traded a mobile home to American Heritage Builders, Inc. for a home (page 11,12). Plaintiff Respondent also gave note to American Heritage Builders, Inc. for Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) representing the down payment on said home (page 16). Plaintiff Respondent did not have title to the mobile home, he held no equity in the property and owed an obligation to his credit union for Thirteen Thousand Dollars \$13,000.00 on the mobile home (page 14). Larry J. Sorenson was the president of American Heritage Builders, Inc. (page 5). At closing, as part of the closing documents, a note was given by American Heritage Builders, Inc. to indicate an

obligation of Thirteen Thousand Dollars (\$13,000.00), equal to Plaintiff/Respondent's obligation to indicate their obligation to pay to Plaintiff/Respondent the amount he was paying to his credit union on the mobile home (page 19). Several documents were exchanged by the parties in this transaction. They were:

Chattel Mortgage	Page 27
Bill of Sale	Page 26, 27
Real Estate Contract	Page 25
Note to American Heritage	Page 25
Note from American Heritage	Page 19

These documents were reviewed by the parties at the closing (page 16,18) and all documents showed American Heritage Builders, Inc. as one party and Plaintiff/Respondent as the other (page 29). There was no request by Plaintiff/Respondent nor discussion between the parties that Defendant/Appellant act as guarantor of the note or that he should sign personally (page 29,30,34). Plaintiff/Respondent said he couldn't recall if he knew he was dealing with a corporation. He left all those details to his wife (page 36). Wife of Plaintiff/Respondent said she knew they were dealing with American Heritage Builders, Inc. (page 59). Subsequently, American Heritage Builders, Inc. fell into hard times and failed to make some of the payments as agreed (page 7). Suit was brought against American Heritage Builders, Inc. and Larry Sorenson and judgment was rendered against American Heritage Builders, Inc. (page 46). Plaintiff/Respondent recovered mobile home at sheriff's sale (page 47) and resold the mobile home, paid off the note that he owed to the credit union and recovered Three Thousand Dollars (\$3,000.00) for himself (page 50). The mobile home was out of Plaintiff/Respondent's possession from

December 1973 to January 1977, or a total of approximately three years, and during that time, American Heritage Builders, Inc. missed only five payments until the suit was filed, for a total of Nine Hundred and Forty Five Dollars (\$945.00) (page 38, 39). Action was continued on the note and judgment was rendered in favor of Plaintiff/Respondent and against Defendant/Appellant for the amount of the note.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: DEFENDANT/APPELLANT SIGNED NOTE AS OFFICER OF CORPORATION AND NOT IN INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY, NOR AS GUARANTOR.

Five documents were exchanged between the parties at the time of the transaction, which gave rise to the note complained of below, the note being one of the documents. All of the documents showed American Heritage Builders, Inc. as one party with Defendant/Appellant Sorenson signing as an officer of said corporation and with Plaintiff/Respondent Kiniry as one of the other parties. Only one document, the note given from American Heritage Builders, Inc. to Plaintiff/Respondent is in any way ambiguous. In First Bank & Trust Company v Post, 12 UCC Reporting Service 512, the Illinois Appellate Court handled a similar fact situation. In this matter, the defendants signed two documents, a chattel mortgage security agreement and a chattel mortgage note. The chattel mortgage security agreement granted to the Plaintiff, a security

interest in a lathe as collateral for the loan. On the security agreement, the words "Palatine Welding Sales and Manufacturing, Inc." were hand written, once at the top left of the document and again on the first line provided for signatures with the defendant's signatures beneath. The chattel mortgage note did not bear the name of the corporation. In the area provided for the signatures the names of the three defendants appeared with no designation of either the person represented or their representative capacity. The plaintiff in this matter argued that the court should affirm the judgment of the trial court by giving him judgment against the officers of the corporation. The court answered in part as follows: "Second, the note and security agreement were executed contemporaneously and as part of the same transaction and concerned the same subject matter and therefore, should be construed together... The security agreement clearly shows that the corporation, Palatine Welding Sales & Manufacturing Company, Inc. was a party to this loan transaction. The note appears to be signed by the defendants, personally, but the reverse side bears a guarantee wherein the same persons personally guarantee their own signatures, a seemingly senseless redundancy. When construed together the form of these instruments fairly indicates to the eye of common sense that the makers intended to sign the face of the note as officers of the corporation."

If the documents exchanged as part of the transaction in this matter, in addition to the note complained of, are all construed together with the note, there can be no doubt that

the intent of the parties was that the transaction was between American Heritage Builders, Inc. and Plaintiff/Respondent as the parties with Defendant/Appellant signing for the corporation as an agent and in his corporate capacity and not as guarantor nor in any personal capacity.

Testimony before the Court below by Defendant/Appellant was that he never intended to sign in an individual capacity, but only in his representative capacity as an agent of the corporation. The testimony of Plaintiff/Respondent was that he didn't recall any conversation about the existence of the corporation. There was not testimony to indicate the intent, desire or understanding by either party that Defendant/Appellant Sorenson signed in an individual capacity nor as guarantor.

In Speer v Friedland, 12 UCC Reporting Service 509, the Florida District Court of Appeal, Second District, had to decide a matter in which the question of the capacity in which an individual signed a check was raised. In this matter, the Court quoted the Uniform Commercial Code §3-403, which is contained in Utah Code Annotated in §70-A-3-403, which provides in part that "(2) an authorized representative who signs his own name to an instrument:

(a) Is personally obligated if the instrument neither names the person represented nor shows that the representative signed in a representative capacity;

(b) Except as otherwise established between the immediate parties, is personally obligated if the instrument names the person represented, but does not show that the representative

signed in a representative capacity, or if the instrument does not name the person represented but does show that the representative signed in the representative capacity." In this matter, the Court held as follows: "In the case sub judice, the check signed by Appellant was ambiguous on its face as to whether she had signed as a co-maker or in a representative capacity. Parol evidence was therefore admissable to show the intention of the parties.

Appellant testified that she never intended to sign the check in question in an individual capacity, but that she signed it in her representative capacity, which she had authority to do. Appellee produced no evidence to controvert this testimony. The presumption that she signed in a personal capacity was overcome by the manifest weight of the evidence. The burden then shifted to Appellee to prove the issue by preponderance of the evidence, unaided by the presumption, which he failed to do."

In the present case, we have a similar set of facts in that the testimony of Defendant/Appellant is very clear that there is no intention on his part to sign in any individual capacity. He also testifies that there was no request or discussion of his signing in any such personal capacity. Plaintiff/Respondent in his testimony, does not claim that Defendant/Appellant signed in his personal capacity or as a guarantor, nor that he requested that he do so, nor that he understood that he did so. His testimony is only that he did not recall a discussion concerning the fact that one of the parties to the transaction was a corporation. It seems obvious that in this matter the Plaintiff/

Respondent has failed to prove the issue by a preponderance of the evidence unaided by any presumption in law.

The parol evidence submitted to the Court below, was properly admitted because the note in question was ambiguous under the terms of §70-A-3-403 Utah Code Annotated.

In J.P. Sivertson & Company v. Lolmaugh, 24 UCC Reporting Service 1212, the Court had to decide whether or not to allow such parol evidence. In this matter, the Court summarized the facts as follows: "On October 26, 1973, the defendant executed a promissory note to the plaintiff. The note was a demand note for \$2,761.72 at 7% percent interest. The defendant signed the note in the following manner. On the first line he wrote the letters, "L.T.G. De.", and then on the next line immediately below the letters, the defendant affixed his signature." The Court recited §3-403 of the Uniform Commercial Code, which we have already cited in pertinent part and then held that "First the action must be between the immediate parties to the note. Secondly, there must be some indication of the existence of a principal or that the signator signed in a representative capacity." In the fact situation here, the Court held "The fact that the defendant wrote the letters above his signature is a clear indication that they were intended to authenticate the note by naming 'the person represented.'" The Court further held that the two elements required to allow parol evidence was present and that therefore the parol evidence was properly admitted below. In the present matter, the typewritten name of the corporation, American Heritage Builders, Inc. was placed

above the signature of Defendant/Appellant Sorenson, being a clear indication that the name American Heritage Builders, Inc. was intended to authenticate the note by naming the person representative and giving clear notice to Plaintiff/Respondent that the document was a corporate document.

POINT II: THE RECOVERY, BY PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT,
OF THE MOBILE HOME, WHICH WAS THE UNDERLYING OBLIGATION
OF THE NOTE, TERMINATED ALL LIABILITY UNDER THE TERMS
OF THE NOTE.

In this matter, the note was given to show that American Heritage Builders, Inc. took possession of the mobile home and assumed the obligation to pay to Plaintiff/Respondent, the amount deducted from his paycheck and paid over to Cyprus Credit Union as payment for the mobile home. Plaintiff/Respondent did not have legal title, only an equitable title. Cyprus Credit Union retained title all through this course of affairs until such time as Plaintiff/Respondent recovered the mobile home at the sheriff's sale, resold it, satisfied the obligation to the credit union and realized the sum of Three Thousand Dollars (\$3,000.00) for himself in the transaction.

In Dulio v Senechal, 7 UCC Reporting Service 222, the Massachusetts Appellate Division held that "The plaintiff has obtained restitution by being restored to the position he formerly occupied by the return of the 1959 Ford Sedan, which he formerly had." This was a case in which a credit union had issued a check to a car dealer to pay for a car purchased by Senechal, a credit union member, who had given the credit union his note

for the amount of the check. Senechal took possession of the car and gave the check to the dealer. The credit union then discovered that Senechal had lost his job so they stopped payment on the check. Senechal returned the car to the dealer, but the dealer sued for payment of the check. The court further held that "The conclusion is warranted that the check in plaintiff's possession had been satisfied and therefore that the Plaintiff may not recover the amount thereof. It is provided by G.L.c 106 §3-603 [70-A-3-603, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended] that (1) the liability of any party is discharged to the extend of his payment or satisfaction to the holder...and (2) payment or satisfaction may be made with the consent of the holder by any person...." Chapter 8, §145 of the Restatment of the Law in the Courts, Restitution, provides as follows: A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR RESTITUTION AGAINST ANOTHER IS TERMINATED BY ITS MERGER IN A VALID JUDGMENT AGAINST THE OTHER, BASED UPON THE FACTS ESTABLISHING THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR RESTITUTION.

Comment:

a. Where a person obtains a judgment in his favor, the cause of action which he previously had is terminated by being merged in the judgment, that is, the duty to return a benefit, its value or proceeds, based upon the operative facts which led to the judgment, is ended and a new duty is created based solely upon the rendering of a judgment which is the crystalization and specific definition of the preceding duty. This rule results from the desirability of not having two distinct claims against one person, based upon the same operative facts, existing

simultaneously. Where a person has alternate remedies to sue, either in tort or in an action for restitution and has pursued one of these remedies to judgment, since the judgment terminates the right, it terminates also the unused remedy.

b. In an action for the conversion of a chattel, a judgment for its value, until satisfied, does not transfer the title of a chattel to the judgment debtor, and, hence, the judgment creditor is entitled to regain a chattel thereafter at the expense, however, of losing his right to enforce the judgment. Illustration:

a. A converts B's horse. B obtains a judgment against A in an action for conversion. B regains the horse without the use of force or a trespass on A's land. B is entitled to retain the horse, but not to enforce the judgment.

Section 147 of Chapter 8, Restatement, Restitution, in Subsection (3) provides as follows: OBTAINING FULL SATISFACTION OF A JUDGMENT EITHER FOR DAMAGES OR FOR RESTITUTION AGAINST ONE OF TWO PERSONS SEVERALLY UNDER A DUTY OF RESTITUTION WITH REFERENCE TO THE SAME SUBJECT MATTER, TERMINATES THE RIGHT TO MAINTAIN AN ACTION AGAINST, OR TO OBTAIN SATISFACTION FROM, THE OTHER.

Comment on Subsection (3):

d. Where a claim against two persons is founded upon a single deprivation as it is where a tort resulting in a single harm has been committed by two persons concurrently or acting in cooperation, the injured person, while having a cause of action against each of the parties for the entire amount of

injury, is entitled to only one satisfaction. If he obtains judgment against one and it is satisfied, he thereby loses his claim against the other. In the instant case, judgment has been obtained against one of the parties to the lawsuit, American Heritage Builders, Inc. and restitution has been had by the recovery and resale, at a profit, to Plaintiff/Respondent of the mobile home. Under the cases cited and the Restatement of the Law and of the Sections of Utah Code Annotated cited, it is clear that Plaintiff/Respondent has been fully satisfied and restored to his former condition and that he has no further right under law or equity to pursue Defendant/Appellant for any further judgment in this matter. To so allow, would be untenable and would unjustly enrich Plaintiff/Respondent.

CONCLUSION