1980

Sam L. Kiniry v. Larry Sorenson and American Heritage Builders, Inc : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED UNLESS CLEARLY AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

THE COURT BELOW HAS TAKEN AND MADE TESTIMONY IN THE INSTANT CASE. FROM THE READING OF THIS TESTIMONY THE LOWER COURT FOUND AS A FACTUAL MATTER THAT THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT LARRY SUTHERLAND ATTESTED THE PROMISSORY NOTE IN QUESTION. FINDING IN FACT #1 AND THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT IS PERSONALLY LIABLE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY WITH THE CORPORATE DEFENDANT IN THE NOTE IN QUESTION. FINDING IN LAW #1

IT IS SETTLED LAW IN THE STATE OF UTAH THAT AN APPELLATE COURT SHOULD GIVE GREAT DEFERENCE TO THE FINDINGS OF A TRIAL COURT. THE APPELLATE COURT WILL NOT REVERSE A TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS UNLESS THEY ARE CLEARLY AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE. IT WOULD BE UNWARRANTED IF THE TRIAL COURT HAS APPLIED THE LAW TO THE

APPELLATE COURT UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT
 1913 1914 1915 1916 1917 1918 1919 1920 1921 1922 1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 1928 1929 1930 1931 1932 1933 1934 1935 1936 1937 1938 1939 1940 1941 1942 1943 1944 1945 1946 1947 1948 1949 1950 1951 1952 1953 1954 1955 1956 1957 1958 1959 1960 1961 1962 1963 1964 1965 1966 1967 1968 1969 1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979 1980 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

THE APPELLATE COURT WAS CONVICTED IN SUPPORT
 THE JUDICIAL BRANCH AND WE SHOULD SUPPORT
 THE APPELLATE COURT EVEN IF WE MIGHT HAVE
 DONE IN A DIFFERENT DECISION THAT WE
 MUST UPHOLD THE DECISION AT PAGE 881

IN THE FEDERAL CASE APPELLATE HAS HELD IN
 PLACE IN THE TITLE THAT THE DECISION OF THE LOWER COURT
 WAS CLEARLY REPEATED THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE HE HAS
 HELD IN DEMONSTRATED IN ANY WAY WHETHER THE DECISION OF
 THE COURT BELOW WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE. THE
 APPELLATE IS NOW BEING HELD TO ALLEGE THAT THE APPELLATE
 COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN THE FINDINGS AND THE DECISION
 BELOW MUST BE REVERSED.

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY THE APPELLATE COURT SUPPORTS
 THE LOWER COURT'S FINDINGS. THE APPELLATE COURT WAS
 OPERATING WITH A PROVISIONAL ORDER FLEXIBILITY'S EXHIBIT 1
CONTAINING TWO SIGNATURE FORMS IN ONE SPACE HAD THE
 APPELLATE COURT 'AMERICAN HERITAGE BUILDERS, INC.'
 IN THE LOWER COURT APPROXIMATE THE UNQUALIFIED SIGNATURE OF THE

individual Defendant, Larry Sorenson. Parol evidence in the form of testimony adduced at trial demonstrates that at the time the promissory note in question was executed, neither party discussed with the other in what capacity the Defendant Sorenson was signing the note. (t.r. qg. 29, L. 29-30, pg. 30, L. 1-3 and t.r. pg. 34, L. 3-6, 27-30, pg. 35 L. 1-3) Other documents signed by the parties on the same day as the promissory note in question, a Uniform Real Estate Contract, (Defendant's Exhibit 3), a Bill of Sale (Defendant's Exhibit 5), and a Chattel Mortgage (Defendant's Exhibit 6), bear varying signatures in that the Defendant Sorenson's signatures on the Bill of Sale and Chattel Mortgage are unqualified while his signature on the Uniform Real Estate Contract is qualified as "Larry Sorenson, Pres." (emphasis added) The Appellant testified at trial that some payments made on the note in issue were made from his personal funds. (t.r. pg. 21, L. 12-19, pg. 23, L. 9-19)

From all this evidence, the lower Court could and did conclude that the promissory note at issue was signed by the Defendant-Appellant in his personal capacity and that he is, therefore, personally liable on the note.

This finding is supported by the evidence. It is not a finding which is clearly against the weight of the evidence. It is not a finding where the law has been misapplied to established facts. For this reason the Court must affirm the judgment below.

Point II

AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT SIGNED THE PROMISSORY NOTE IN QUESTION IN HIS PERSONAL CAPACITY, AND HE IS PERSONALLY LIABLE THEREON.

A.

THE NOTE IN QUESTION ITSELF MANDATES THAT DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BE HELD LIABLE.

The promissory note in question (hereinafter, the note) appears in the record as Plaintiff's Exhibit 1. It bears two signature spaces. On one space appear the typewritten words "American Heritage Builders, Inc." On the other space directly below appears the signature of the Defendant-Appellant, Larry Sorenson. Neither signature is qualified in any way. The issue before the Court is whether the Appellant signed the note in his personal capacity, and is therefore personally liable on the note, or whether he signed it merely as an agent or officer of the Defendant signatory corporation, and is therefore not personally liable on the note.

The applicable Utah statute in this case is U.C.A., §70A-3-403 (1953), which reads as follows:

Signature by authorized representative.--

(1) A signature may be made by an agent or other representative, and his authority to make it may be established as in other cases of representation. No particular form of appointment is necessary to establish such authority.

(2) An authorized representative who signs his own name to an instrument

- (a) is personally obligated if the instrument neither names the person represented nor shows that the representative signed in a representative capacity;
- (b) except as otherwise established between the immediate parties, is personally obligated if the instrument names the person represented but does not show that the representative signed in a representative capacity, or if the instrument does not name the person represented but does show that the representative signed in a representative capacity.

(3) Except as otherwise established the name of an organization preceded or followed by the name and office of an authorized individual is a signature made in a representative capacity.

This statute requires that the Appellant be personally bound on the note. Subsection (2)(a) mandates that an authorized representative be personally liable

on an instrument unless the instrument itself clearly indicates he has signed in a representative capacity. In the instant case, the Appellant did not qualify his signature in any way. The note does not show that the Appellant signed in his capacity as representative of the defendant corporation. Appellant is, therefore, personally liable on the note.

Subsection (2)(b) further requires that a person be obligated on an instrument unless he shows on the instrument that he signed in a representative capacity, or unless the parties otherwise agree. Again the Appellant must be found personally obligated. The note does not show that he signed in a representative capacity, and the evidence adduced at trial does not show that the parties agreed otherwise. The parties simply did not discuss the issue of Appellant's obligation at all. (t.r. pg. 29, L. 29-30, pg. 30, L. 1-3 and t.r. pg. 34, L. 3-6, 27-30, pg. 35, L. 1-3)

Subsection (3) provides an easy out for officers of a corporation who wish not to be bound personally on an instrument. They may sign the instrument with the name of the corporation followed by their name and office.

In the present case, the Appellant chose not to sign the note with his name and office. He chose merely to sign with his name. From this the Court should infer that the Appellant intended to be personally obligated on the note.

The Court should construe U.C.A., 70A-3-403, (1953) strictly against the Defendant-Appellant. The statute provides means by which a representative may sign an instrument without becoming personally obligated, and provides that a signer who does not show he is signing in a representative capacity will be personally obligated on the instrument. The Appellant should not now be heard to argue that when he signed the note, however he may have signed it, he did not mean to be bound. His own self-serving testimony of his intent is not sufficient to overcome the dictates of the statute. He has failed to heed the provisions of the statute, and it should be strictly construed against him.

Courts in numerous jurisdictions have so construed this provision of the Uniform Commercial Code. They have held that where an instrument is endorsed as is the note in question, where the name of a corporation is followed by the unqualified signature of the corporation's

authorized representative, both the corporation and the representative personally are liable on the instrument. Lumberman Associates, Inc. v. Palmer, 344 F. Supp. 1129 (E.D. Penn., 1972), affd. 485 F.2d 680; Fanning v. Hembree Oil Co., 434 S.W.2d 822 (Ark., 1968); Norfolk County Trust Co. v. Vichensky, 359 N.E.2d 59 (Mass. App., 1977); Lanier v. Bank of Virginia, 387 A.2d 614 (Md. App., 1977); Rotuba Extruders v. Ceppos, 385 N.E. 2d 1068 (N.Y. App., 1978); Kroh v. Pronto Petroleum Co., 536 P. 2d 860 (Colo. App., 1975); Perez v. Janota, 246 N.E. 2d 42 (Ill. App., 1969); Seamon v. Acree, 236 S.E. 2d 688 (Ga. App., 1977).

Such a strict construction of U.C.A., §70A-3-403, (1953), would also be in keeping with the underlying theories of the law of negotiable instruments. The purpose of a negotiable instrument is that it may be freely negotiated in commerce. The theory is that persons ought to be able to trade freely in commercial paper, and that such free negotiability of commercial paper is essential to our economy. To enhance the unhampered exchange of negotiable instruments, a cardinal rule has developed that all terms of a negotiable instrument must appear clearly on the document. In the words of Learned Hand, a negotiable instrument must be "a courier without baggage." Specifically, U.C.A., §70A-3-104, (1953),

requires that, to be negotiable, a promissory note such as the note here in question must be signed by the maker. It must show who is bound by the note.

In the instant case, the Defendants purported to make a negotiable instrument payable to the Plaintiff, and the Defendant-Appellant personally signed the note without indicating on the note that he would not be personally bound. It would be incongruous with the above-described law of negotiable instruments to hold that the Defendant-Appellant should not be bound on the note when he signed it in an unqualified manner. As noted above, all terms of a negotiable instrument must appear on the instrument itself, including the name of the person to be bound. Holders of negotiable instruments should not be made to guess exactly who is liable to them on the instrument. This information should be derived from the document itself. Where an unqualified signature appears on a negotiable instrument, it must be presumed that the signer is liable on that instrument. U.C.A., §70A-3-403, (1953), must be strictly construed in keeping with this policy. The statute must be construed so that where an unqualified signature appears on an instrument, the signer is personally bound. The Defendant-Appellant herein is bound on the note pursuant to a strict construction of U.C.A., §70A-3-403, (1953).

Finally, the language contained in the body of the note supports a finding that both the Appellant and the Defendant corporation are bound on the note. The note is worded in the plural. It begins, "For value received We (sic), the undersigned after date, without grace I (or we) promise to pay . . ." The fact that the note is written in the plural indicates that at least two separate persons are liable for payment of the note. The only two persons indicated as makers and signers of the note are the two Defendants. The Defendant-Appellant is thus liable on the note, or the note is gramatically incorrect and makes no sense.

More significantly, the first "we" of the above-quoted passage is type-written, and was inserted into the language of the note by the note's maker. It is not a mere formality of a printed form. The Appellant testified at trial that the note was prepared by his secretary at his direction and to his specifications. (t.r. pg. 4, L. 8-23) The fact that the Appellant himself prepared the note and worded it in the plural is strong evidence that the Appellant is bound on the note along with the Defendant corporation.

This Court has recognized that the fact that a negotiable instrument is worded in the plural is proof that both the corporate maker and the individual maker of the instrument are bound. Stanley v. Deseret Foods Corp., 74 P.2d 1221 (Utah, 1938). There, the Court found, at page 1223, that the phrase "we promise to pay" unambiguously indicates that both the corporation and the unqualified endorser of a note intended to be bound thereon. The wording of the note here in question clearly indicates that the Appellant is liable on the note.

B.

PAROL EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL FURTHER MANDATES THAT DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BE HELD PERSONALLY LIABLE ON THE NOTE.

The Court below permitted parol evidence of the circumstances surrounding the making of the note to be presented at trial. It permitted testimony of all parties to this action and of third persons present at the time the note was signed. This testimony encompassed all aspects of the negotiations surrounding the note and the subjective intent of the parties. This parol evidence supports the lower court's decision that Appellant is liable on the note.

Plaintiff's testimony indicates that at the time the note was signed he believed the Defendant-Appellant would be liable on the note. His understanding of the whole transaction was simply that Appellant was selling his home to Plaintiff and was giving Plaintiff his note back as part of the deal. (t.r. pg. 34, L. 27-30, pg. 35, L. 1-3, pg. 36, L. 4-30, pg. 45, L. 8-11) Further, the Appellant himself testified at trial that at no time did the parties discuss the personal liability of Appellant on the note. They did not explicitly discuss this matter at all. (t.r. pg. 29, L. 29-30, pg. 30, L. 1-3) However, Appellant did testify that he told Plaintiff all along that he was simply selling his home to Plaintiff. (t.r. pg. 18, L. 23-30, pg. 19, L. 1-3) In short, the parol evidence adduced at trial establishes that the parties did not have an oral understanding that Appellant would not be liable on the note. The evidence further establishes that both parties regarded the transaction as Appellant's selling of his home to Plaintiff. This understanding of the parties supports the lower court's judgment against Appellant.

The Appellant testified at trial that he made at least one cash payment to Plaintiff on the note, that he received a receipt on the cash payment and that the funds for some of the payments to Plaintiff on the note came from Appellant's personal funds. (t.r. pg. 20, L. 18-30, pg. 21, L. 1-19, pg. 23, L. 9-30, pg. 24, L. 1-4) All this conduct on Appellant's part is inconsistent with his claim that he did not intend to be personally liable on the note. It is unusual business practice for a corporation to make cash payments to its creditors. It is even more unusual for a corporation to accept a receipt for a cash payment where the receipt is made to an individual person. And it is totally inconsistent with Appellant's claim of no personal liability on the note that he made payments on the note out of his own personal funds. All this conduct of Appellant, the cash payments, personal receipts, and use of personal funds, is more consistent with the payment of a personal debt than with the payment of a corporate debt, and supports the lower court's finding of personal liability in Appellant.

The documentary evidence presented below indicates that Appellant knew very well how to sign a document in his capacity as a corporate agent. The Uniform Real Estate Contract signed by the parties (Defendant's Exhibit 3) bears Appellant's signature as "Larry Sorenson, Pres." If Appellant had wanted to sign the note as an agent only, he could have signed as he did on the Uniform Real Estate Contract.

Appellant has argued that the Uniform Real Estate Contract and the note should be construed together, inasmuch as they were executed together, and that the qualified signature on the contract limits Appellant's liability on the note. It would be inappropriate to construe these documents together, however. The contract is a document conveying title in land. The title to the land in question was exclusively in a corporation at the time of the sale. (t.r. pg. 15, L. 7-24) Hence, Appellant could not have signed the contract in his personal capacity. His personal signature on the document would simply have had no effect. The note, on the other hand, represents a debt. The corporate debtor in question was a small, family owned entity. (t.r. pg.

6, L. 3-16) Unlike a signature on the contract, Appellant's personal signature on the note could have an effect beyond merely binding the corporate defendant. A personal signature there could have the effect of obligating Appellant personally on the note. And it is likely that an officer of a small, closely held corporation will sign for corporate debts in both a personal and in an agency capacity in order to encourage others to conduct business with the corporation. Hence, it is logical to construe the Uniform Real Estate Contract and the note separately, and to find that the Appellant signed one in a representative capacity and the other in both representative and personal capacities. The manner in which Appellant signed the Uniform Real Estate Contract indicates he knew how to sign purely as an agent. It is not illogical to construe the contract and the note separately. The documentary evidence admitted at trial support the findings of the Court below.

Finally, testimony adduced in the lower Court indicates that the Appellant was in a much better bargaining position than the Plaintiff with regard to land transactions. The Plaintiff testified to having a high school education, (t.r. pg. 54, L. 25-27) and to being very ignorant of

real estate matters. (t.r. pg. 36, L. 9-15) The Appellant, on the other hand, is currently employed as a real estate agent. (t.r. pg. 3, L. 25-30, pg. 4, L. 1-7) At the time of the land transaction in question he was an officer in several corporations conducting business in real estate and home construction. (t.r. pg. 5, L. 20-29) All the documents prepared in the course of the transaction in question were prepared by Appellant. (t.r. pg. 4, L. 8-23, pg. 34, L. 11-21) In view of the divergent situations of the parties, it would be inequitable now to construe the documents in question against Plaintiff. The Appellant knew very well what he was doing in the course of the land sale at issue while Plaintiff never had a clear understanding of the process. Appellant drew up the note and its accompanying documents and created the ambiguity as to whom is liable on the note. Equity requires that that ambiguity now be resolved against him.

C.

THE CASES CITED IN APPELLANT'S BRIEF ARE DISTINGUISHABLE FROM THE INSTANT CASE AND DO NOT SUPPORT A CONCLUSION THAT APPELLANT IS NOT LIABLE ON THE NOTE.

The Appellant has cited the case of First Bank and Trust Company v. Post, 12 U.C.C. Reporting Service 512, 192 N.E.2d 907 (Ill.1973) in support of his claim that he

is not liable on the note. That case is easily distinguishable from the instant case. First, the promissory note in Post was given for purchase of an industrial lathe by a corporation from another business entity. There could be no mistake there that the transaction involved corporate property purchased for corporate use. Here, however, the transaction in question involves the sale and purchase of a residence. It would be easy and logical for Plaintiff here to assume the transaction was a personal one. And crucially, in Post all parties to the note there in issue testified that they did not intend to bind the corporate officers in their personal capacity. Here, the Plaintiff has testified that he assumed he was dealing personally with the Appellant, and both parties have testified they did not discuss the matter of Appellant's personal liability.

The Appellant has also cited Speer v. Friedland, 12 U.C.C. Reporting Service 509, 276 So.2d 84 (Fla. App., 1973) in his behalf. In that case, the corporate officer's signature was affixed to the check there in question by a check signing machine, whereas in the instant case, Appellant personally signed the note. (t.r. pg. 4, L. 22-23) Moreover, in Speer the corporate officer testified that she did not intend to be personally bound on the

check, and the Plaintiff there produced no evidence to rebutt this testimony. Here, there is substantial evidence to rebutt Appellant's claim that he did not intend to be bound on the note. Finally, in Speer as in Post, the holder of the instrument in question was clearly dealing with an automobile auctioning concern. As noted above, in the present case it was not at all clear whether Plaintiff was dealing with a corporation or an individual.

The Appellant also cites J.P. Sivertson & Co. v. Lolmaugh, 24 U.C.C. Reporting Service 1212, 380 N.E. 2d 520 (Ill. App. 1978), for the proposition that parol evidence was properly admitted below. The admissability of parol evidence below has never been raised by Plaintiff. In fact, the parol evidence lends support to Plaintiff's claim against Appellant, an noted in Point II B above. In addition, Lolmaugh is distinquishable from the present case. There, the Court found a prior course of dealings between the parties to support the conclusion that the corporate officer signed the instrument soley in a representative capacity. Here, there is no prior course of dealing between the parties to support Appellant's theory.

The cases cited by Appellant are distinguishable from the instant case and do not support Appellant's claim that he is not personally liable on the note.

POINT III

THE FACT THAT THE MOBILE HOME IN QUESTION WAS SOLD AT A SHERIFF'S SALE DOES NOT RELIEVE THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S UNDERLYING OBLIGATION ON THE NOTE.

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